

Formation of Isoprenoids

4

Jordi Pérez-Gil, Manuel Rodríguez-Concepción, and Claudia E. Vickers

Contents

1	Intro	Introduction	
2	Biosynthesis of Isoprenoids		59
	2.1	Two Nonhomologous Pathways Produce the Universal Isoprenoid Precursors IPP	
		and DMAPP	61
	2.2	Prenyl Transferases	68
	2.3	Terpene Synthases	70
3	Func	tional Classes of Microbial Isoprenoids	71
	3.1	Biosynthesis of the Cell Wall	71
	3.2	Membrane Architecture and Fluidity	72
	3.3	Electron Transport	74
	3.4	Conversion of Sunlight into Chemical Energy	75
	3.5	Protein Translation	77

J. Pérez-Gil (🖂)

Centre for Research in Agricultural Genomics (CRAG) CSIC-IRTA-UAB-UB, Barcelona, Spain

Australian Institute for Bioengineering and Nanotechnology (AIBN), The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia e-mail: j.perezgil@uq.edu.au; jordi.perez@cragenomica.es

M. Rodríguez-Concepción

Centre for Research in Agricultural Genomics (CRAG) CSIC-IRTA-UAB-UB, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: manuel.rodriguez@cragenomica.es

C. E. Vickers

Australian Institute for Bioengineering and Nanotechnology (AIBN), The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

Commonwealth Science and Industry Research Organization (CSIRO), Land and Water, EcoSciences Precinct, Brisbane, QLD, Australia e-mail: c.vickers@uq.edu.au; Claudia.Vickers@csiro.au

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

O. Geiger (ed.), *Biogenesis of Fatty Acids, Lipids and Membranes*, Handbook of Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-50430-8_6

	3.6	Protein Prenylation	77	
	3.7	Secondary Metabolites	78	
4	Rese	arch Needs	79	
Re	References			

Abstract

Isoprenoids, also known as terpenoids, are a diverse group of metabolites produced in all free-living organisms. They play an indispensable role in a wide variety of essential processes but also contribute to a better adaptation to the environment in the form of specialized secondary metabolites. In spite of their notable structural and functional diversity, all isoprenoids are synthesized from the same metabolic precursors, which are then converted into prenyl diphosphates of increasing length. Such basic prenyl diphosphate intermediates represent the starting point of downstream pathways leading to the formation of the vast diversity of end products. Here we present an overview of isoprenoid biosynthesis in microbes from the three kingdoms of life, namely, bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotic microorganisms (mainly microalgae and yeast), with a special emphasis on the research conducted during the last decade. We also discuss the main functional classes of isoprenoids occurring in these microorganisms by focusing in the representative model organisms of each kingdom. Finally, we examine key research needs in this field. This includes expanding our understanding of secondary isoprenoid metabolism in microbes, examining the evolutionary relationships between the two core biosynthetic pathways and improving our ability to engineer production of industrially useful isoprenoids in microbes.

1 Introduction

Isoprenoids are evolutionarily one of the oldest known classes of biomolecules. They were originally identified as key components of cell membranes and were widely used as taxonomic markers, even in fossil history (Chappe et al. 1979; Langworthy and Pond 1986). Today they represent the largest family of natural products, with more than 70,000 different compounds described (Dictionary of Natural Compounds: http://dnp.chemnetbase.com). Isoprenoids, also known as terpenoids, are produced in all free-living organisms. As a group, they are extraordinarily diverse structurally and functionally. They play essential primary roles in fundamental processes, including respiration (quinones), photochemical conversion (chlorophylls, bacteriochlorophylls, bacteriorhodopsins, carotenoids, plastoquinones), electron transport (cytochromes), protein translation and modification (prenylation), membrane integrity (sterols, bactoprenols, hopanoids, ether-type lipids in archaea), and antioxidant protection (carotenoids, quinones, isoprene) (Gershenzon and Dudareva 2007). These groups of compounds are highly

conserved in the evolutionary scale. Isoprenoids also have myriad secondary metabolic functions, and many of them are also industrially relevant compounds, having uses as biofuels, fragrances, drugs, pigments, or nutraceuticals (Vickers et al. 2015).

Plants are the organisms that provide most of the structural and functional diversity found in the isoprenoid family, primarily due to their very complex secondary metabolism for the interaction of the plant with the environment. Prokaryotes and eukaryotic microorganisms tend to have a less complex secondary isoprenoid metabolism. In model microbes such as E. coli and yeast, isoprenoid diversity is relatively limited, with isoprenoid products being mostly primary metabolites. In other classes of microbes, a more extensive secondary isoprenoid metabolism is present. For example, some non-photosynthetic bacteria and fungi produce nonessential carotenoids (which in photosynthetic organisms are usually considered as essential auxiliary pigments of the photosynthetic light-harvesting apparatus) to protect from photodynamic reactions and act as scavengers of oxygen radicals (Frank 1999); and some actinomycete and streptomyces strains produce isoprenoid-based antibiotics (Dairi 2005). However, sometimes the line between primary and secondary isoprenoids becomes rather blurry. This is the case, for instance, for isopentenyl tRNA. Addition of an isopentenyl molecule to some tRNA increases the efficiency of translation and reduces the sensitivity to the codon context both in eukaryotes and prokaryotes reducing the mutation rate (Persson et al. 1994). This provides the cell with a competitive advantage that is not environment-specific; is this a primary or secondary function?

2 Biosynthesis of Isoprenoids

Isoprenoid biosynthesis can be divided into a three-stage process that includes two relatively conserved core sets of reactions (1 and 2 below), and a third stage encompassing a set of variable reactions leading to the enormous variety of isoprenoid end products (Fig. 1):

- 1) Biosynthesis of the C5 prenyl phosphate universal isoprenoid precursors
- 2) Assembly of polyprenyl diphosphate backbones
- 3) Addition of functional groups and modification/decoration of the carbon backbone

These three stages take places in all organisms, but the third is especially diverse and extended in plants and support a tremendous variety of reactions including cyclization, dimerization, oxidation, or isomerization among others. This stage is more limited among prokaryotes, which mainly, but not only, produce functional isoprenoids through removal of the diphosphate and addition of the prenyl backbone to a target moiety (e.g., condensation to quinone head groups).



Fig. 1 Pathways for the biosynthesis of isoprenoid precursors in microbes. The canonical MEP pathway steps are shown in *black arrows* (*GAP* D-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate, *DXP* 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate, *MEP* 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate, *CDP-ME* 4-diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methyl-D-erythritol, *CDP-MEP* 4-diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 2,4-cyclodiphosphate, *HMBPP* 4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl diphosphate, *IPP* isopentenyl diphosphate, *DMAPP* dimethylallyl diphosphate). The alternative MEP pathway initiation discovered in *Rhodospirillum* is shown in *purple arrows* (MTRP, 5-methylthio-D-ribulose 1-phosphate), and the alternative pathway initiation proposed for *Synechocystis* is shown in *green dashed arrow*. The canonical or eukaryotic MVA pathway is presented in *orange arrows* (*HMG-CoA* 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA, *MVA* mevalonic acid, *MVA5P* 5-phosphomevalonate, *MVA5PP* 5-diphosphomevalonate). The alternative steps of the archaeal MVA pathway are shown in *blue arrows* (*IP* isopentenyl phosphate), and the alternative

2.1 Two Nonhomologous Pathways Produce the Universal Isoprenoid Precursors IPP and DMAPP

Despite their astonishing diversity both at the structural and functional level, all isoprenoids are derived from the same C5 universal building blocks, isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP), and its isomer dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP). In nature, two chemically unrelated pathways are responsible for the synthesis of IPP and DMAPP. The mevalonate (MVA) pathway is present mainly in eukaryotes and archaea, whereas the 2-methyl 3-erythritol-4-phosphate (MEP) pathway is found in most bacteria (including many important pathogens). In plants both pathways coexist, but in different subcellular compartments: the MVA pathway is located in the cytosol, and the MEP pathway is located in the plastids. IPP is the final product in the MVA pathway, whereas the last step of the MEP pathway yields both IPP and DMAPP simultaneously (Fig. 1).

2.1.1 MVA Pathway

The MVA pathway was discovered during the 1960s and was the first pathway identified for the biosynthesis of isoprenoids (Lynen 1967). For many decades, it was considered to be the only pathway producing IPP/DMAPP and was therefore thought to be ubiquitous in all living organisms. The "canonical" MVA pathway is considered to be the pathway as it was elucidated in eukaryotic organisms, though plasticity is present in other organisms (see below for details; Fig. 1). In the first two steps of the canonical or eukaryotic MVA pathway, the sequential condensation of three molecules of acetyl-CoA produces acetoacetyl-CoA and then 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA), catalyzed by the enzymes acetoacetyl-CoA thiolase (AACT) and HMG-CoA synthase (HMGS), respectively. HMG-CoA is then converted to MVA in an irreversible reaction that represents the first committed step of the pathway and is catalyzed by the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase (HMGR). MVA is sequentially phosphorylated to 5-phosphomevalonate by mevalonate kinase (MVK) and then to 5-diphosphomevalonate by 5-phosphomevalonate kinase (PMVK). Finally, decarboxylation of 5-diphosphomevalonate catalyzed by 5-diphosphomevalonate decarboxylase (DPMD) generates IPP. DPMD catalyzes a two-step reaction involving an ATP-dependent phosphorylation at a 3-OH position of the mevalonate moiety prior to the decarboxylation. An isomerase (IDI) forms DMAPP from IPP in a reaction that is required to complete a fully functional MVA pathway (Fig. 1). The enzymes involved in the "canonical" MVA pathway have been recently reviewed (Miziorko 2011).

This canonical pathway is also found in a few eubacteria, including three grampositive cocci, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus pneumonia*, and *Enterococcus*

Fig. 1 (continued) thermoplasma-type MVA pathway is shown in *red arrows (MVA3P* mevalonate 3-phosphate, *MVA-3,5-PP* mevalonate 3,5-bisphosphate). Boxed enzymes correspond to those with more than one type described. Enzyme acronyms (*in bold*) are described in the text

faecalis and the spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi* (Lombard and Moreira 2011). In addition to the canonical MVA pathway, some eubacterial species (e.g., *Listeria monocytogenes* and some *Streptomyces* strains) also contain the MEP pathway. In *Listeria monocytogenes* despite both pathways contribute to the synthesis of IPP/DMAPP, it has been described that HMGR is an essential gene, and the MEP pathway cannot support cell growth by itself (Heuston et al. 2012). However, MEP pathway mutants are impaired in infection of mice. Interestingly, the closely related nonpathogenic *Listeria innocua* contains the MVA pathway and functional genes for the four initial steps of the MEP pathway but lacks the last two, which have been lost during evolution possibly during adaptation to a nonpathogenic life cycle (Begley et al. 2008). In the case of *Streptomyces*, the MEP pathway is used mainly for the synthesis of essential isoprenoids, whereas the MVA pathway is used to produce specialized secondary metabolites such as antibiotics due to its transcriptional regulation activated during the late phase of growth (Hamano et al. 2002).

Archaea also harbor an MVA pathway but with variation from the canonical pathway. The increasing availability of fully sequenced archaeal genomes has allowed to conclude that this kingdom of life only uses the MVA pathway, as no single representative has been found to date that also contains the MEP pathway. However, gene analyses for the full set of enzymes of the MVA pathway systematically failed to identify the genes for the last two steps of the canonical pathway, PMVK and DPMD. These two genes are absent in most archaea with only a few exceptions including halophilic archaea and *Thermoplasma* relatives, which contain a DPMD-like gene and some thermoacidophilic archaea showing ortologues for both PMVK and DMPD (Lombard and Moreira 2011).

Recent experiments have demonstrated that IPP in most archaea is produced by switching the order of last phosphorylation and decarboxylation steps. In this alternative route, 5-phosphomevalonate is converted to isopentenyl phosphorylated by IP 5-phosphomevalonate decarboxylase (PMD) and subsequently phosphorylated by IP kinase (IPK) to yield IPP (Fig. 1). IPK was first identified in *Methanocaldococcus jannaschii* (Grochowski et al. 2006). More recently, the alternative MVA route was completed with the identification of a PMVD-encoding sequence in green non-sulfur bacteria (Dellas et al. 2013). Even more recently, a phosphomevalonate decarboxylase together with an isopentenyl phosphate kinase were identified and characterized in *Haloferax volcanii*, showing how the archaeon decarboxylation step occurs prior to phosphorylation (Vannice et al. 2014).

Furthermore, in 2014 a second alternative MVA pathway was suggested in *Archaea* (Azami et al. 2014). Very recent experiments have demonstrated the existence of a thermoplasma-type MVA pathway suggested to be unique among the archaeal order thermoplasmatales (Vinokur et al. 2016). In this new alternative route, MVA is sequentially phosphorylated to mevalonate 3-phosphate by mevalonate kinase (M3K) and then to mevalonate 3,5-bisphosphate by mevalonate 3,5-bisphosphate catalyzed by mevalonate 3,5-bisphosphate decarboxylase (MBD) generates IP, which in turn is phosphorylated by the previously mentioned IPK to produce IPP (Fig. 1). M3K was first identified and characterized

in *Thermoplasma acidophilum* (Azami et al. 2014) and immediately after in another extreme acidophile, *Picrophilus torridus*. 3PMVK and MBD (Vinokur et al. 2016) have also been identified in *Thermoplasma acidophilum* to complete a fully functional alternative MVA pathway. The identification of this new pathway in the most acid-tolerant organisms has been associated to an evolutionary adaptation to extremely acidic environments.

2.1.2 2-C-Methyl-D-Erythritol 4-Phosphate Pathway (MEP)

Over the years following discovery of the MVA pathway, inconsistencies in labeling experiments led to significant confusion, as the labeling patterns could not be explained by the known biochemistry of the MVA pathway. In the early 1990s, new labeling experiments revealed the existence of an alternative pathway for IPP and DMAPP production from pyruvate and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (Rohmer et al. 1993). The MEP pathway, also known as the non-mevalonate, Rohmer or DXP pathway, comprises seven enzymatic steps (Fig. 1; (Frank and Groll 2017)) that are best characterized in the gram-negative model organism *Escherichia coli*. The first step involves the condensation of pyruvate with the C1 aldehyde group of D-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate to produce 1-deoxy-Dxylulose 5-phosphate (DXP) and eliminate one molecule of CO₂ in a reaction catalyzed by DXP synthase (DXS). In E. coli, DXP represents a branch point of the pathway as DXP is also used for the production of pyridoxal phosphate (vitamin B6) and thiamine diphosphate (vitamin B1). In the next step DXP is converted to MEP by the enzyme DXP reductoisomerase (DXR) in a reaction that involves an intramolecular rearrangement and posterior reduction and represents the first committed step of the pathway. In the next three successive steps, cytidylation, phosphorylation, and cyclization, reactions are catalyzed by the enzymes MEP cytidylyltransferase (MCT), 4-(cytidine 5'-diphospho)-2-Cmethyl-D-erythritol kinase (CMK), and 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 2,4-cyclodiphosphate (MEcPP) synthase (MDS), leading to the formation of MEcPP, a cyclic diphosphate molecule with an unusual structure cyclized through the phosphate groups (Fig. 1). In the sixth step, 4-hydroxy-3methylbut-2-enyl diphosphate (HMBPP) synthase (HDS) catalyzes the opening reduction of the ring to form HMBPP. In the last step of the pathway, HMBPP is transformed simultaneously into a mixture of IPP and DMAPP at a 5:1 ratio by the enzyme HMBPP reductase (HDR). The simultaneous production of IPP and DMAPP by HDR makes the isomerase (IDI) a nonessential step of the MEP pathway. Despite this, it is well established that overexpression of IDI results in an increase in isoprenoid end products. This suggests that the enzyme can play an important role in balancing the availability of the universal building blocks for the production of downstream compounds. The MEP pathway has been reviewed elsewhere (Rodriguez-Concepcion and Boronat 2002). During the elucidation and characterization of the pathway, different nomenclatures were adopted to designate orthologous bacterial and plant genes leading to some confusion. A unified nomenclature for the MEP pathway genes, enzymes, and intermediates was proposed to mitigate this problem (Phillips et al. 2008).

2.1.3 Plasticity and Diversity in Isoprenoid Pathways

Since isoprenoids are essential, selection forces act to maintain isoprenoid production but not always necessarily at the individual enzyme level. Microorganisms show an astonishing biochemical and metabolic diversity (mainly in prokaryotes) as a consequence of their ability to adapt to a wide range of environmental conditions. This plasticity is also reflected on isoprenoid biosynthesis at many levels. In the last decade, extensive work has revealed the existence of a variety of alternative steps in both pathways as well as lateral gene transfer (LGT) events which transferred whole pathways and specific alternative steps between kingdoms (Perez-Gil and Rodriguez-Concepcion 2013).

The existence of two nonhomologous biochemically unrelated pathways to produce the same universal precursors represents the first and most obvious layer of diversity and plasticity. Also, as noted, the final two steps of the MVA pathway are variable in Archaea (Dellas et al. 2013), and some bacteria harbor an MVA pathway instead of a MEP pathway (Dairi 2005). However, plasticity can also be found at the enzyme level in both pathways at different enzymatic steps. These alternative steps are distributed in various phyla, but unlike the alternative archaeal MVA pathway, they are not necessarily widely distributed in one phylum.

In the MVA pathway, two different classes of homologous HMGR have been identified based on sequence alignments and phylogeny. Class 1 (HMGR-I) enzymes are found mainly in eukaryotes and archaea, whereas class 2 (HMGR-II) are predominantly found in bacteria harboring the MVA pathway. However, HMGR-II is present in some archaeal orders, including Thermoplasmatales and Archeoglobales, in what has unambiguously identified as a LGT event (Boucher et al. 2001). The two classes of HMGR enzymes, which have been proposed to arise by divergent evolution from a common ancestor, share less than 20% amino acid identity and show major differences around the active site. As a consequence of these differences, the two classes of enzymes show a different level of sensitivity to statins, a family of blockbuster drugs first isolated from fungi that inhibit HMGR activity. Statins are widely used to lower cholesterol levels in humans through strong inhibition of the activity of HMGR-I, but they show a very poor effect on HMGR-II enzymes. This might explain the substitution of HMGR-I by HMGR-II enzymes in bacteria as well as the ability of some archaea to incorporate and maintain this type of enzyme even in the presence of an active HMGR-I (Friesen and Rodwell 2004).

Different enzymes catalyzing the same reaction are also described in the MEP pathway. Two different enzymes can catalyze the first committed step of the pathway to produce MEP from DXP. Most bacteria have a canonical DXR enzyme (DXR-I) to catalyze this reaction, but recently a new type of DXR-like enzyme (DRL or DXR-II) was discovered in a heterogeneous group of MEP pathway-containing bacteria having no DXR homolog (Sangari et al. 2010). DXR-II belongs to a family of previously uncharacterized proteins with oxidoreductase features but with similarity to DXR-I only in the NADPH-binding domain and a different arrangement of the active sites (Perez-Gil et al. 2012a). Moreover, not all DXR-II proteins participate in the MEP pathway. Some organisms have a DXR-II homolog, but do not have a MEP pathway; in this case, the homolog does not in fact have DXR activity.

Phylogenetic analyses support a single origin of DXR-II and these DXR-II homologs, followed by functional divergence in different phyla. This represents a quite unique model of convergent evolution in the case of the nonhomologous DXR-I and DXR-II enzymes with DXR activity and divergent evolution in the case of DXR-II enzymes with different functions. The patchy distribution of DXR-II in specific eubacteria is best explained by gene loss (Carretero-Paulet et al. 2013). This mechanism would explain the unique presence of DXR-I in the majority of bacteria, the presence of only DXR-II in some, and the presence of both DXR-I and DXR-II in a few strains.

The last step in both MVA and MEP pathways is catalyzed by IDI. Two different types of enzymes have also been identified, IDI-I and IDI-II. Even though they catalyze the same reaction, the two classes show no sequence similarity, have unrelated structures, and have different reactions mechanisms involving different cofactors (Berthelot et al. 2012). Type I (IDI-I) enzymes, which were the first identified and studied extensively in the 1950s, are found in eukaryotes and in most bacteria. Type II (IDI-II) were first identified in Streptomyces 15 years ago (Kaneda et al. 2001) and then shown to be also present in archaea and some other bacteria. Type I enzymes are zinc metalloproteins utilizing a divalent metal in a wellestablished protonation-deprotonation reaction. In contrast, type II enzymes are flavoproteins that require a reduced form of flavin mononucleotide (FMN) produced by NADPH and Mg²⁺. However, the mechanism of reaction is still under investigation. А radical mechanism was first proposed, but recently a protonation-deprotonation mechanism similar to the one observed for IDI-I was suggested (Berthelot et al. 2012). Interestingly, some bacteria possess either IDI-I or IDI-II, some possess both of them, but a large proportion do not contain homologs for any IDI protein. As IDI is not essential for the MEP pathway, it is feasible that they do not have an IDI activity.

In addition to enzymatic plasticity at specific nodes of the pathway, there is also some evidence that the MEP pathway can initiate from alternative central carbon precursors. The cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* PCC6803 has homologs for all the MEP pathway genes. However, no effect was observed on isoprenoid biosynthesis in photoautotrophically grown cells either when supplementing the pathway with pathway substrates/intermediates or when pharmacologically blocking the pathway (Ershov et al. 2002). This is surprising, as both approaches result in significant modification of isoprenoid production in other organisms. Conversely, feedinglabeled phosphorylated sugars of the pentose phosphate pathway resulted in incorporation of labeled IPP into isoprenoids (Perez-Gil and Rodriguez-Concepcion 2013). This suggested alternative pathway is not completely understood, but together these results suggest that photosynthesis-derived products of the pentose phosphate pathway could be used as alternative substrates for IPP biosynthesis.

A more recent but better understood alternative MEP pathway initiation route has been identified in another photosynthetic bacterium, *Rhodospirillum rubrum* (Warlick et al. 2012). In this alternative pathway, DXP is produced in two catalytic steps from 5-methylthio-D-ribulose 1-phosphate (MTRP) instead of pyruvate and G3P. MTRP is an intermediate of the methionine salvage pathway, and is isomerized

to 1-methylthio-D-xylulose 5-phosphate (MTXP) by a RuBisCO-like protein (RLP). MTXP is finally converted into DXP by MTXP methylsulfurylase (MMS). Genes encoding for RLP and MMS are present in several bacterial groups producing MTRP, making feasible a potential wider distribution of this alternative pathway initiation route. Interestingly, all these bacteria also have genes encoding DXS (the enzyme producing DXP from pyruvate and G3P), which still appears to be the main contributor to IPP/DMAPP production (Perez-Gil and Rodriguez-Concepcion 2013).

The contribution of these alternative routes linking the adenosylmethionine (SAM)-dependent polyamine metabolism or the pentose phosphate pathway with isoprenoid biosynthesis remains to be investigated. However, it is possible that bacteria harboring the canonical pathway as well as alternative routes could potentially use both pathways to synthesize their isoprenoids in response to specific environmental conditions.

The differential distribution of the two main pathways producing the universal precursors for the biosynthesis of isoprenoids, the MVA present in mammals (including humans), and the MEP present mostly in bacteria (including several pathogens as well as the protozoa parasite Plasmodium falciparum) along with the essential role of isoprenoids provides a new promising target for the development of much needed antibiotics (Rodriguez-Concepcion 2004). Potentially, drugs inhibiting any of the seven enzymatic steps of the MEP pathway could lead to the development of antibiotic drugs.

Additionally, the existence of different types of enzymes in some steps of both pathways provides a good opportunity for the development of highly specific drugs. Drugs targeting only HMGR-II (present in bacteria) but with no effect on HMGR-I (present in humans) could be used against eubacterial pathogens harboring this specific isoform (Friesen and Rodwell 2004). To date no good inhibitors showing specificity for HMGR-II have been identified yet. DXR-I and DXR-II represent another node species-specific. The active site of these enzymes shows a different arrangement what could be used to design highly specific antibiotics against only one of the enzyme types (Perez-Gil et al. 2012a). Most relevant would be the identification of drugs selectively targeting pathogens harboring DXR-II to develop a new generation of antibiotics without affecting beneficial bacteria in the human gut carrying DXR-I enzymes.

However, even the MEP pathway represents a promising target for the development of new antibiotics against pathogens the above-described remarkable diversity and plasticity observed in bacteria for isoprenoid biosynthesis requires special attention since represents mechanisms to overcome pharmacological blockage that apply to specific organisms. Several pieces of evidence showing the ability of bacteria to bypass inhibition of single enzymes have been already reported highlighting the requirement of accurate designs and rational development. Reduced uptake (Brown and Parish 2008), shunt pathways (Ershov et al. 2002), alternative enzymes (Perez-Gil and Rodriguez-Concepcion 2013), or spontaneous mutations (Perez-Gil et al. 2012b) are some of the mechanisms already described when inhibiting isoprenoid biosynthesis that requires higher level of attention. Currently, great effort is focused on the identification and development of antibiotics directed against almost all of the enzymes of the MEP pathway. Despite all this effort to date, only one drug targeting the second enzyme of the MEP pathway (DXR), fosmidomycin (FSM), has reached clinical trials to fight malaria, and results show that further work is required. Phase II trials using FSM alone do not retrieve the expected cure rates, and phase III trials in combination with clindamycin also failed due to a parasite recrudescence after an initial promising high cure rate seven days posttreatment (Fernandes et al. 2015).

2.1.4 Evolution of the Pathways Producing Universal Precursors of Isoprenoids

It is often generalized that the MVA pathway is present in eukaryotes and (in slightly modified form) in archaea, whereas the MEP pathway is present in bacteria. However, a detailed exploration of the genomic data available reveals a much more patchy distribution of these pathways – in particular, among eubacteria and microalgae. In some cases, bacteria from the same phylogenetic group use different pathways; and in others, unrelated bacteria use the same pathway. Obviously, this distribution cannot be described by simple vertical inheritance of genetic information. Phylogenomic analyses have confirmed that the MEP pathway is restricted to bacteria and to the plastids of eukaryotes (Lombard and Moreira 2011). However, the canonical MVA pathway has been identified in bacterial and archaeal clades as well as the eukarya. Presence in prokaryotes has traditionally been attributed to lateral gene transfer (LGT) events among the three kingdoms of life. While LGT is not a rare phenomenon – for instance, LGT is thought to be responsible for almost 18% of *E. coli* genes (Lawrence and Ochman 1998) – LGT cannot exclusively explain the patchy distribution of the MVA pathway.

The absence of homologs for the last three steps of the classical MVA pathway in archaea was first explained by the recruitment of nonhomologous enzymes to catalyze the same reaction. This was supported by the discovery of the nonhomologous IDI-II in *Streptomyces* (Kaneda et al. 2001) that subsequently was found in most archaeal genomes. However, this is not the case for the remaining unidentified steps, which were recently identified to complete what now is generally accepted as the alternative MVA pathway in Archaea (Vannice et al. 2014). Despite sporadic cases of LGT, the alternative MVA pathway seems to be ancestral in archaea suggesting that actually three ways to produce IPP would exist – one of each for the three kingdoms of life (Lombard and Moreira 2011).

The uneven taxonomic distribution of the two major pathways has led to the proposal of two different hypotheses about their evolutionary origin. Some authors propose that the two pathways emerged in completely independent evolutionary events, one in the bacterial lineage and one in the archaeal lineage (Lange et al. 2000). However, recent phylogenetic studies suggest that not all the bacteria bearing the MVA pathway acquired the genes by LGT from archaea or eukaryotes (Lombard and Moreira 2011). This data provides the framework for a completely different evolutionary hypothesis: that the classical MVA pathway is in fact the common ancestral pathway, which was inherited in all three kingdoms and modified (in the

case of the alternate MVA pathway) or replaced (under appropriate selective conditions) by the MEP pathway following its evolution.

These two hypotheses have relevant implications with respect to the nature of the cenancestor (the last common ancestor of all organisms). An independent emergence of the two pathways implies the absence of lipid membranes in the cenancestor. In this case, the cenancestor would either be noncellular or surrounded by a mineral structure. In contrast, if the MVA pathway is in all three kingdoms, then it follows that this pathway was present in the cenancestor. This in turn implies the possibility that the common ancestor had membranes containing isoprenoids (Lombard and Moreira 2011). After being a matter of debate for many years, the presence of lipid membranes in the cenancestor is now becoming generally accepted (Lombard et al. 2012; Sojo et al. 2014).

The distribution and evolution of the two pathways in algae is even more complex. In all higher plants, the MEP pathway is always found in chloroplast, and the MVA is found in the cytosol; however, microalgae show a much more diverse distribution of the pathways. The chrysophyte *Ochromonas danica* and the red alga *Cyanidium caldarium* use both pathways, but the green algae *Scenedesmus obliquus*, *Chlorella fusca*, and *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* produce all their isoprenoids through their chloroplastic MEP pathway. The euglenophyte *Euglena gracilis* was originally thought to produce all its isoprenoids (including plastidial isoprenoids) using the MVA pathway due to the lack of label incorporation in phytol from feeding labeled glucose or pyruvate. Later work supported a lack of label incorporation in carotenoids – demonstrating that, despite the lack of labeled phytol, the MEP pathway clearly contributes to plastidial isoprenoid biosynthesis (Lohr et al. 2012).

Evolution of eukaryotic phototrophs involved different symbiotic events that lead to the coexistence of both pathways. In the primary endosymbiosis, a heterotrophic eukaryote (harboring the MVA pathway) engulfed a cyanobacterium that ultimately became the plastid in some of the algae phyla (mostly green algae). Subsequently, another heterotrophic eukaryote (also harboring the MVA pathway) engulfed a green alga (already harboring both the MVA and MEP pathways) to become eukaryotic endosymbionts that were finally reduced to plastids (secondary endosymbiosis). Other secondary symbiotic events involving red algae have been suggested as well. In this scenario, different coexistence of the pathways has produced a variety of pathway distributions, including coexistence of the two pathways in algae. However, the overall story suggests that the MEP pathway is essential for all plastid-bearing organisms (Lohr et al. 2012).

2.2 Prenyl Transferases

Prenyl transferases (also known as prenyl diphosphate synthases) catalyze the condensation of an acceptor (that may or may not be isoprenoid-derived) to an allylic diphosphate. Three different types of prenyltransferase reactions are described. The first one catalyzes head-to-tail reactions (mainly producing *trans*-

prenyl diphosphates from DMAPP); the second catalyzes head-to-head reactions (using prenyl diphosphates to produce tri- and tetra-terpenes) or head-to-middle (leading to irregular isoprenoids); and the third involves the insertion of prenyl chains on a non-isoprenoid acceptor (alkylation), for example, in ubiquinone bio-synthesis (Bouvier et al. 2005; Oldfield and Lin 2012).

The three core prenyl transferase enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of the main backbones for the production of isoprenoid end products are the enzymes geranyl diphosphate synthase (GDS), farnesyl diphosphate synthase (FDS), and geranylgeranyl diphosphate synthase (GGDS) (Fig. 2). The reaction is initiated at the primary allylic diphosphate, DMAPP; sequential addition of IPP results in the linear all-*trans*-prenyl phosphates of increasing length, starting with the C10 geranyl diphosphate (GPP), then the C15 farnesyl diphosphate (FPP), and then the C20 geranylgeranyl diphosphate (GGPP). A new C-C bond is generated between two



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the biosynthesis of the isoprenoid end products' families from the universal building blocks, IPP (isopentenyl diphosphate), and DMAPP(dimethylallyl diphosphate). *Solid arrows* indicate head-to-tail condensation reactions leading to the formation of geranyl diphosphate, GPP; farnesyl diphosphate, FPP; and geranylgeranyl diphosphate, GGPP. Reactions are catalyzed by GDS, geranyl diphosphate synthase; FDS, farnesyl diphosphate synthase; and GGDS, geranylgeranyl diphosphate synthase, respectively. *Dashed arrows* indicate head-to-head condensations for the formation of triterpenes and tetra-terpenes. Hemiterpene synthases, HTPS; monoterpene synthases, MTPS; sesquiterpene synthases, STPS; and diterpene synthases, DTPS catalyze the conversion of basic backbones into isoprenoid end products, *dotted arrows*

prenyl units through a nucleophilic substitution releasing a pyrophosphate molecule (Sacchettini and Poulter 1997). In bacteria (as well as in plants), GGDS sequentially adds IPP to the allylic co-substrates DMAPP, GPP, and FPP to produce GGPP, whereas in yeast (as well as in mammals, and presumably all higher eukarya), GGDS use only FPP as a substrate. This suggests two different ways to produce GGPP involving one (GGDS) or two (FPPS/GGDS) enzymes. Prenyl diphosphates such as IPP, GPP, FPP, and GGPP are the polyprenyl backbones leading to isoprenoid end products' families of hemiterpenes, monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, and diterpenes, respectively (Fig. 2).

2.3 Terpene Synthases

Terpene synthases (TPSs) catalyze a range of reactions (primarily dephosphorylation and cyclization) to convert the polyprenyl backbones into members of the different subfamilies of isoprenoids. These transformations may then be followed by a variety of modifications of the parental skeletal types to produce the vast family of isoprenoid metabolites described to date. In plants, the TPS family is particularly diverse and has been extensively studied (Bohlmann et al. 1998). There are various classification systems. TPS genes are generally divided into seven clades based on sequence similarity (Chen et al. 2011), whereas the proteins can be classified based on their mechanism of reaction or substrate specificity.

The two reaction mechanism groups, class I and class II, produce carbocations that ultimately lead to the formation of new carbon-carbon bonds; however, they differ in the way reactions are initiated. Class I enzymes catalyze heterolytic cleavage of an allylic diphosphate ester bond, whereas class II enzymes utilize protonation to initiate the reaction (Gao et al. 2012). Class I TPS enzymes are the most abundant and often produce multiple products, using either a single prenyl diphosphate substrate or more than one. This is due to the stochastic nature of bond rearrangements that can follow the formation of the carbocation intermediate. Alternatively, TPS enzymes can be classified based on substrate specificity for the length of the prenyl phosphate substrate. Hemiterpene synthases, monoterpene synthases, sesquiterpene synthases, and diterpene synthases use C5, C10, C15, and C20 prenyl phosphates as substrates, respectively. Most of the C5–C15, and some C20, terpenoids are volatile under normal environmental conditions.

Following the initial dephosphorylation (+/- cyclization), further alterations and decorations by oxidation, peroxidation, methylation, acylation, or cleavage may occur through the action of other enzymes, particularly cytochrome P450s. These decorations have an impact on the specific physical properties of the final compound and may be responsible for new biological activities.

Less is known about TPSs in prokaryotes, where relatively few TPSs have been identified. It has been known that bacteria produce odorous volatile compounds, presumably in the terpenoid family, since the nineteenth century; however, the first studies on these compounds only began in the 1960s, when Gerber and Lechevalier (Gerber and Lechevalier 1965) described the petrichor ("rain-wet-earth" smell)

isoprenoid, geosmin, produced by actinomycetes. It appears that it took over 50 years for the next research reporting volatile isoprenoids (isoprenoid hydrocarbons and alcohols) from bacteria to be published (Wilkins and Schöller 2009). While generally far fewer than in plants, bacteria also contain genes coding for terpene synthases. The encoded enzymes are class I TPSs (so far, no class II TPSs have been found in bacteria). However, they do not show sequence similarity with the plant or fungal genes and usually have low levels of similarity with other bacterial TPSs, making their identification through local sequence alignment challenging. Despite these differences at the primary sequence level, terpene synthases all typically display two highly conserved metal-binding motifs: an acidic amino acid-rich motif and a triad of residues located downstream that is fully conserved in all three classes of bacterial terpene synthases (mono-, sesqui-, and diterpene synthases) (Komatsu et al. 2008). Hemiterpene synthases have not been described in bacteria; instead, in the case of isoprene production in *Bacillus*, the hemiterpene isoprene is produced by HDR (also known as IspH), the terminal enzyme in the MEP pathway (Ge et al. 2016).

Based on the two conserved motifs, a search method for new TPSs was developed using hidden Markov (HMM) models and previously identified plant, fungal, and bacterial TPSs. This approach retrieved 41 new predicted synthases from the protein family (Pfam) database. A second-generation method using the new set of 41 bacterial sequences to train the HMM model leads to the identification of 140 presumptive terpene synthases. More recently, a third-generation model, trained with the previous 140 bacterial TPS, has expanded the family up to 262 genes, the biochemical function of some of which has also been determined. Results show that sesquiterpene synthases are by far the most prevalent TPS among prokaryotes (Yamada et al. 2015).

3 Functional Classes of Microbial Isoprenoids

It is currently considered that isoprenoids in microbes mainly fulfill essential biological roles in growth and survival. These processes include cell wall biosynthesis, membrane function or electron transport among others. However, some microbes, especially microalgae, also produce highly specialized isoprenoid-based secondary metabolites. Moreover, as more microbial TPS genes are discovered and the functions of their products determined, this view may change. In this section we briefly describe the main functional classes of isoprenoids identified to date focusing primarily on isoprenoid roles in the model microbial organisms for each kingdom but also examining some other interesting organisms/roles.

3.1 Biosynthesis of the Cell Wall

The bacterial cell wall is a rigid semipermeable structure surrounding the cytoplasmic membrane that maintains the cell shape and prevents deleterious effects of internal osmotic pressure in the cell. The biosynthesis of the cell wall is a complex process that involves the transport of highly hydrophilic monomeric units across the cytoplasmic membrane that are then assembled to produce the main component of the cell wall, peptidoglycan (Scheffers and Pinho 2005). The key compound allowing this transport is an isoprenoid lipid carrier, undecaprenyl phosphate (UP), commonly referred to as bactoprenol (Fig. 3). UP is a C55 compound derived from a prenyl diphosphate produced by the sequential addition of 8 molecules of IPP onto FPP followed by dephosphorylation. This step is essential since the oligosaccharide transfer between the UDP-sugar and the lipid requires the monophosphate form of the lipid (Touz and Mengin-Lecreulx 2008).

3.2 Membrane Architecture and Fluidity

As already mentioned, cell membrane isoprenoids have a long history, both evolutionarily and academically as taxonomic markers. The cell membrane is a selectively permeable layer, basically containing lipids and proteins, which surrounds and encloses the contents of the cell. Glycerolipids are one of the main lipid components in the membrane; they are composed of a polar head and two alkane chains attached to a glycerol moiety. In archaea, the architecture of the membrane shows some unique features. Unlike any other form of life, archaeal membranes contain ethertype lipids with hydrocarbon chains bound to the glycerol moiety exclusively by ether linkages. In eukaryotes and eubacteria, fatty acyl hydrocarbon chains are linked to an *sn*-glycerol-3-phosphate backbone via an ester bond, whereas in archaea ether bonds link isoprenoid hydrocarbon chains to *sn*-glycerol-1-phosphate (Jain et al. 2014). Usually, the isoprenoid side chains are methyl-branched C20 and C25 prenyl phosphates derived from GGPP (Fig. 3).

Other isoprenoids in other microbes are also involved in the regulation of the fluidity of the membrane. In yeast, as a representative of eukaryotic microorganisms, ergosterol plays a similar role to that described for cholesterol (the most common sterol in vertebrates) or phytosterol (in plants) in the regulation of the membrane rigidity, fluidity, and permeability (Abe and Hiraki 2009). The reason for this specificity of sterols in each eukaryotic clade is not clear but must have some evolutionary rationale. In particular, the reason why fungi produce ergosterol is not clear since its biosynthesis is more energy-demanding compared to cholesterol, and structure-function studies have not been able to identify any advantage (Shrivastava and Chattopadhyay 2007). One recent explanation is that ergosterol may provide a better adaptation to the typical climatic instabilities of fungal ecological niches (Dupont et al. 2012). Interestingly, it was recently shown that some less evolutionary advanced species of fungi produce cholesterol instead of ergosterol (Weete et al. 2010). The biosynthetic pathway for ergosterol involves several catalytic steps, but the basic backbone derives from the head-to-head condensation of two molecules of FPP to produce the C30 squalene (Fig. 3).





In contrast, the distribution among microalgae is quite diverse with some producing mainly cholesterol, some others producing ergosterol and some of them producing a highly complex profile of sterols (Volkman 2003).

Most prokaryotes do not produce any kind of sterols. Membrane fluidity in these organisms is regulated through another set of isoprenoid-based molecules, hopanoids, which is found in about 50% of the species investigated. Hopanoids are pentacyclic triterpenoids produced from a basic skeleton of squalene showing a structure that resembles the one described for sterols (Saenz et al. 2015). Poulter and co-workers recently described an alternative path to squalene in bacteria (Pan et al. 2015).

Isoprenoids are also involved in the membrane organization by taking part on the formation of membrane microdomains as a result of the segregation of different lipids due to their physicochemical properties. Lipid rafts are better known in eukaryotes as functional membrane microdomains (FMM) enriched in particular lipids such as cholesterol (or ergosterol in yeast), which harbor and compartmentalize proteins involved in several cellular functions like signal transduction. They also contain specific proteins like flotillins, membrane-bound chaperones suggested to be responsible of the recruitment of functional proteins into the rafts. The existence of lipid rafts has been associated to the higher cellular complexity of eukarvotes. However, the existence of FMM in bacteria was recently reported. Most bacteria do not have two of the major components described for lipid rafts in eukarvotes, cholesterol, and sphingomyelin, but flotillin-like proteins have been identified both in bacteria and archaea. The existence of lipid rafts in bacteria still remains controversial, and the molecular structure of the lipids involved has not been elucidated. However, hopenoids and carotenoids have been suggested as the most plausible candidates for the assembly of FMM, whereas cardiolipin, a diphosphatidylglycerol lipid could play the role described for sphingomyelin in eukaryotes (Bramkamp and Lopez 2015).

3.3 Electron Transport

Isoprenoid quinones are membrane-bound compounds found in all living organisms with the only known exceptions of some obligatory fermentative bacteria and some methanogenic archaea. They are composed of a polar head, which interacts with proteins in the membrane, and an isoprenoid hydrophobic side chain that confers a lipid-soluble character and allows anchoring in the lipid layer. Isoprenoid quinones function mainly as electron and proton carriers in electron transfer chains (photosynthesis and respiration) but have also an important function as antioxidants. The reduced forms of isoprenoid quinones have antioxidant properties that protect membranes from lipid peroxidation and the effects of reactive oxygen species on membrane components. The great majority of naturally occurring isoprenoid quinones belong to the naphthoquinone family (polar head is a naphthoquinone ring) or the evolutionary younger benzoquinones (polar head is a benzoquinone group) (Nitschke et al. 1995). In both families of compounds, the isoprenoid side chains are of a different length depending on the organism; they are usually 6–10 isoprene (C5) units although chains ranging from 1 to 14 units have been identified in different species (Fig. 3). Most often the side chain is fully unsaturated, but in some organisms it is partially or fully saturated. The reasons for the length and degree of saturation of the side chain are not fully understood, but these characteristics are often dependent on the growth temperature of specific species. It has been shown that quinones with different side-chain length can complement the absence of the endogenous ubiquinone in *E. coli* (Choi et al. 2009), suggesting that length is not critical for basic biological function.

Menaquinones (members of the naphthoquinone family) function in respiratory and photosynthetic electron transport chains of bacteria. Among benzoquinones, the most widespread and important are ubiquinones and plastoquinones. Ubiquinones participate in respiratory chains of eukaryotic mitochondria and some bacteria, whereas plastoquinones are components of photosynthetic electron transport chains of cyanobacteria. Menaquinones have low midpoint redox potential, and their appearance in early phase of evolution has been correlated with the reducing character of the ancient atmosphere. Reduced menaquinones become rapidly oxidized in the presence of oxygen; therefore these compounds cannot efficiently operate in an atmosphere containing oxygen. The evolutionary transition from menaquinones to ubiquinones (showing higher midpoint redox potential) occurred independently in some groups of prokaryotes as an adaptation to aerobic metabolism (Nitschke et al. 1995). Facultative anaerobes like *E. coli* produce ubiquinone when growing under aerobic condition but mainly produce menaquinone under anaerobic conditions.

An isoprenoid tail (hydroxyethyl farnesyl) derived form a FPP molecule is found both in HemeA and HemeO (Mogi et al. 1994), which are key components of cytochromes. Cytochromes are membrane-bound proteins containing a heme group that facilitate the movement of electrons. Heme groups are heterocyclic porphyrin rings made up of four pyrrolic groups joined together by methine bridges with a metal ion (usually iron) in the central position, bound to the four pyrrole nitrogen atoms (Fig. 3). There are different heme groups (A, B, C, D, O) showing different substitutions along the porphyrin ring. Cytochrome-based respiratory chains are present in eukaryotes, archaea and bacteria (O'Brian and Thony-Meyer 2002).

3.4 Conversion of Sunlight into Chemical Energy

Some microorganisms as well as higher plants are able to capture solar photons and convert the light energy into storage chemical energy. Two unrelated mechanisms have evolved to sense and harvest light for phototrophic growth, and both of them require isoprenoid-derived compounds. The first one is commonly known as photosynthesis and is dependent on photochemical reaction centers, and the second one is based on membrane proteins binding retinal pigments and forming a light-driven proton pump.

In microbes there are two different types of photosynthesis, both of which use isoprenoid phytyl side chains for the light-harvesting pigments. Oxygenic photosynthesis uses chlorophylls for light harvesting and is found in algae, cyanobacteria, and some bacteria. Anoxygenic photosynthesis uses bacteriochlorophylls and is found in purple bacteria, green sulfur, and non-sulfur bacteria as well as in heliobacteria (Bryant and Frigaard 2006). The structure of these two pigments is similar, with a distinctive tetrapyrrole ring and a C20 phytyl tail derived from a molecule of GGPP that anchors the molecule to the photosynthetic membrane (Fig. 3). Major differences between these two families occur in the substitutions around the ring and substitutions on the phytyl tail, which modulates the specific wavelength of light that each pigment absorbs. Although phytyl is the most common tail in bacterial chlorophylls, other isoprenoids (farnesyl, geranylgeranyl, or 2,6 phytadienyl) have also been identified (Chew and Bryant 2007). These pigments play a central role in light harvesting and photochemistry. All chlorophototrophs also produce essential carotenoid pigments, which act primarily as photoprotective agents (protecting against reactive oxygen species that are generated during photosynthesis) but are also involved as lightharvesting helpers (Frank 1999). Carotenoids are a diverse subfamily of isoprenoids derived from the C20 backbone GGPP. Some non-photosynthetic microorganisms also synthesize carotenoids; in this case, they can be considered secondary metabolites since they are not essential but protect the organism from oxidative damage.

The second mechanism for light harvesting was originally identified in marine haloarchaea (Oesterhelt and Stoeckenius 1971). This mechanism employs membrane proteins called proteorhodopsins and bacteriorhodopsins, which bind isoprenoid-derived retinal; the retinal acts as a chromophore to harvest light, and the proteins function as proton pumps ultimately producing ATP. In addition to their originally described role, members of the diverse family of retinal-binding proteins have roles as transmembrane chloride pumps and photosensors (Fuhrman et al. 2008). Unlike chlorophylls, retinal – a relatively simple pigment – captures light without accessory pigments. During the last decades, this mechanism has also been found to be widespread among marine bacteria showing different absorption spectra (allowing them to live at different water depths where the wavelengths of light available are filtered) (Beja et al. 2000).

Retinal is best known as the vitamin A compound that forms the basis of animal vision. It is an isoprenoid-derived C20 compound (Fig. 3) produced in archaea and most bacteria by oxidative cleavage of the C40 carotenoid β -carotene (Fig. 3) at the 15,15' bond to produce two identical molecules of retinal. In cyanobacteria retinal is also produced by the cleavage of β -carotene, but at least two carotenoid oxigenases are known to also produce retinal using apo-carotenoids with all-*trans* linear end groups as a substrate (Ruch et al. 2005; Scherzinger et al. 2006). The origin of these apo-carotenoids remains unclear, but it is likely that they are derived by asymmetrical oxidative cleavage at one end of a C40 carotenoid.

3.5 Protein Translation

Most of the bacterial and eukaryotic tRNAs that read codons starting with uracil are modified at the adenosine at position 37 (corresponding to the 3' adjacent of the anticodon) by isopentenylation. The isopentenyl group of an IPP molecule is transferred to the amino group on position C₆ of the nucleoside (Fig. 3) to produce N⁶- Δ^2 -isopentenyl adenosine (i⁶A). Isopentenyl adenosine (as well as other non-isoprenoid modifications at different positions) increases the efficiency of translation of the modified tRNA and reduces the sensitivity to the codon context. These chemical modifications in the anticodon loop of tRNAs alter the conformation and reduce flexibility, providing proper geometry that acts as a proofreading mechanism and allows optimal rate of protein synthesis (Persson et al. 1994).

A recent study has described the identification of geranylated RNA in some bacteria including *E. coli, Enterobacter aerogenes, Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Salmonella enterica* (Dumelin et al. 2012); these observations represent the first example of oligoisoprenylated nucleic acids. The C10 isoprenoid geranyl binds to the sulfur atom at the 2-thiouridine position in around 7% of the first position of anticodons for tRNAs UUC, UUU, and UUG. RNA geranylation has been suggested as an alternative to selenation at low selenium levels. Geranylation of tRNA affects codon bias and frame shifting of the open reading frame during translation.

3.6 Protein Prenylation

Prenylation of proteins is a posttranslational modification that is mainly involved in facilitating protein association to the membrane and directing subcellular localization. It has been best studied in eukaryotes (especially mammalian and plant cells) but was first identified in the basidiomycete yeast Rhodosporidium toruloides and, a few years later, in the ascomycete yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae in mating factor peptides. Prenylated peptides contain a C-terminal cysteine thioether linked to (most commonly) a molecule of farnesyl or hydroxyfarnesyl (derived from FPP) that is essential for its biological function (Omer and Gibbs 1994). This addition is catalyzed in yeast by the enzyme farnesyl protein transferase (FTP) (Zhang and Casey 1996). Less commonly, GGPP is involved, and two types of GGPP protein transferases have been described (Zhang and Casey 1996). These activities have also been identified in other eukaryotic microorganisms such as *Plasmodium falciparum*. Protein prenylation has so far been demonstrated only in eukaryotes, but recent work has also predicted that pathogenic bacteria can access eukaryotic machinery to prenylate their own proteins. These bacteria have evolved mechanisms to direct their effector proteins to the desired subcellular localization in the eukaryotic host cell. One of these mechanisms involves secretion of proteins containing prenylation motifs that are recognized by the prenylation machinery of the host. In-host prenylation of bacterial proteins has been identified using both farnesyl (by addition of FPP) and geranylgeranyl (by addition to GGPP) (Ivanov et al. 2010). In silico analyses show that most bacterial species contain effectors with the conserved prenylation motif. However, to date no in-cell protein prenylation has been described in prokaryotes.

3.7 Secondary Metabolites

Secondary metabolites represent a diverse group of compounds playing different biological roles on the interaction with the environment and providing better fitness to the specific ecological niche. In some cases, the role of specific compounds is still not clear or still under debate. Higher plants and macroscopic fungi, rather than microbes, produce most of the terpenoid secondary metabolites known to date. The amount of these secondary metabolites found in microorganisms including bacteria, archaea, unicellular fungi (yeast), and microalgae is more restricted or, at least, less studied. Here, we will outline a few well-known examples, but these are by no means exhaustive; secondary metabolism is very complex.

Actinomycetes and specially Streptomyces are well known for their relatively large genome size (8–10 Mb), which correlates with a complex secondary metabolism, usually occurring at the late growth phase. Most of the secondary metabolites produced are antibiotics, and some of them are isoprenoid-derived molecules (Dairi 2005). Most Streptomyces produce their isoprenoids through the MEP pathway, but interestingly, some of them also possess the MVA pathway as a gene cluster on their genome. In this case, the MVA pathway genes are expressed only at very low levels during the growth phase, suggesting that the MEP pathway supports biosynthesis of essential isoprenoids. During the late phase of growth, the MVA genes are upregulated, and around 60% of cellular IPP is produced via the MVA pathway for biosynthesis of secondary metabolites such as antibiotics. Additionally, most of the genes involved in further modifications of the isoprenoid backbone are located in the flanking regions of the MVA cluster genes (Dairi 2005). However, Streptomyces species carrying only the MEP pathway also produce antibiotics. Actinomycetes are also well known for the production of other isoprenoid-derived secondary metabolites including some volatile terpenes, the aforementioned FPP-derived geosmin (Jiang et al. 2007) being perhaps the original and best-known example. Geosmin is also produced by other microorganisms such cyanobacteria, myxobacteria, and fungi.

All photosynthetic microorganisms produce carotenoids, which as noted play an essential role in light harvesting and photoprotection of the photosynthetic machinery (Takaichi 2011). Some produce sufficient amounts that they can provide a natural source of industrially relevant carotenoids, e.g., the chlorophytes *Haematococcus* for astaxanthin and *Dunaliella* for β -carotene (Fig. 3). However, a variety of non-photosynthetic microbes, including some yeast, a variety of bacteria, and a few archaea (mainly Halobacteriaceae (Calegari-Santos et al. 2016)), also produce carotenoids as secondary metabolites. Their main physiological function is thought to be as antioxidants, but a role has also been described as virulence factors in some eubacteria (Liu et al. 2005). Most of the prokaryotic carotenoids known to date are found in land bacteria, but marine bacteria represent a partially unexplored source of new carotenoid

structures still to be identified. Recently, a compilation of carotenoid structures and biosynthetic pathways from prokaryotes with more than 300 unique structures has been publicly released (http://bioinfo.imtech.res.in/servers/procardb/) (Nupur et al. 2016). Carotenoids are mainly C40 compounds (Fig. 3) derived from the head-to-head condensation of two molecules of GGPP (Fig. 2) that is then further modified by desaturation, cyclization, or oxidation to produce the vast number of structures identified. However, C30 structures derived from FPP (Furubayashi et al. 2014), and C50 structures produced by the addition of two molecules of IPP onto the C40 lycopene, have also been reported (Yang et al. 2015).

Another intriguing metabolite produced by many organisms including animals, plants, and bacteria is isoprene. Isoprene (2-methyl-1,3-butadiene) is the smallest C5 representative of the isoprenoid family but in terms of total production is the most important isoprenoid with a total annual production estimated at 600 Tg carbon equivalents, mostly from plants and microalgae (Guenther et al. 2006). This massive amount of isoprene affects atmospheric chemistry and contributes to local air pollution, especially in the presence of anthropogenic nitrous oxides. The physiological role of isoprene is still under debate but has been suggested to act as a protectant in response to abiotic stress in plants (Vickers et al. 2009). Isoprene is produced from DMAPP in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme isoprene synthase (IPS) (Fig. 3). In addition to microalgae, many other microorganisms produce isoprene. Both gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria have been identified as isoprene emitters, with *Bacillus* showing the highest emission rates. However, for a long time attempts to identify an isoprene synthase responsible for the conversion of DMAPP in prokaryotes failed. Surprisingly, recent in vitro studies have demonstrated the ability of HDR/IspH, the last step of the MEP pathway catalyzing the simultaneous production of IPP and DMAPP from HMBPP, to produce isoprene directly from HMBPP in Bacillus (Ge et al. 2016).

4 Research Needs

Biosynthesis of isoprenoids is highly complex, not only in the decoration phase but also in the core IPP/DMAPP production pathways (MVA and MEP). A decade ago, we had a fairly clear idea of how isoprenoids were synthesized through the canonical MVA and MEP isoprenoid pathways – even though the MEP pathway was only fully elucidated 15 years ago (Rodriguez-Concepcion and Boronat 2002). In recent years, we have discovered a number of variations on these canonical pathways; indeed, there is an astonishing genetic and metabolic plasticity among microbes. In the future, we can probably expect that further biochemical complexity will be discovered. Moreover, decoration and modification biochemistry downstream of prenyl phosphate metabolism is still poorly understood for some classes of compounds, for example, the recently discovered strigolactone group, which was identified as a group of plant hormones only in 2008 (Umehara et al. 2008). We still have much to learn about this group and many other isoprenoids. In particular, while plant secondary isoprenoid metabolism is relatively well characterized, relatively little is known about prokaryotic secondary isoprenoid metabolism. Recent analyses have revealed the existence of a widespread variety of putative terpene synthases in bacteria (Yamada et al. 2015) that could soon lead to the identification of new catalytic activities and new isoprenoid structures. A systematic approach to validate all these candidates is required.

The high plasticity in the pathways producing IPP/DMAPP and the patchy distribution of the pathways across the three kingdoms of life have relevant evolutionary repercussions regarding both the origin of the pathways and the relationship between the two. The case of the coexistence of both pathways in microalgae is a particularly interesting topic relevant to these issues. Although some retain the two pathways (MEP in the chloroplast and MVA in the cytosol, as described in higher plants), some others, like the model green alga organism *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, produce their isoprenoids solely from the chloroplast-localized MEP pathway (Lohr et al. 2012). This raises the question of whether the ancestor of green algae ever used the MVA pathway or if it was lost during evolution. Regardless, the absence of the MVA pathway indicates that mechanisms exist to transport MEP pathway-derived isoprenoids from the chloroplast for the biosynthesis of cytosolic isoprenoids. To date, very limited information about the export/import of MEP pathway prenyl phosphate intermediates is available. A better understanding of these processes could help us to understand isoprenoid biosynthesis in the cytosol of green algae.

Many isoprenoids are of industrial interest, with applications including biofuels, chemical feedstocks, industrial solvents, agricultural chemicals, essential oils, fragrances, nutraceuticals, pharmaceuticals, etc. However, availability from natural sources is often limited and insufficient for industrial applications. The structural complexity of many of these compounds makes chemical synthesis from petrochemical precursors complex, expensive, and often impossible. In this context biological platforms represent a very attractive environmentally friendly approach. However, while we understand the basic metabolic pathways allowing us to engineer production of many of these interesting targets, much less is known about the regulatory constraints that currently limit isoprenoid production titers/rates/yields at the industrial level (Vickers et al. 2012). For example, in silico simulations predict a 10% greater theoretical maximum yield for the MEP pathway compared with the MVA pathway (Gruchattka et al. 2013). However, the regulation of the MEP pathway has revealed to be highly complex (Ajikumar et al. 2010), and yields from current efforts to boost the pathway flux to optimize isoprenoid production are still far from the predictions. Most successful approaches for industrial isoprenoid production have been achieved using the MVA pathway (Paddon and Keasling 2014) or generating new synthetic circuits (Meadows et al. 2016). A better understanding of the regulatory controls on the MEP pathway might allow us to achieve the predicted increase in yields through the MEP pathway.

Acknowledgments Research at the authors' laboratories was supported by a Marie Curie International outgoing Fellowship within the 7th European Community Framework Programme to JPG, an ERA-IB-2 project funded by the Spanish MINECO (PCIN-2015-103) to MRC, and a Queensland Government Accelerate Fellowship to CEV.

References

- Abe F, Hiraki T (2009) Mechanistic role of ergosterol in membrane rigidity and cycloheximide resistance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biochim Biophys Acta 1788:743–752
- Ajikumar PK, Xiao WH, Tyo KE, Wang Y, Simeon F, Leonard E, Mucha O, Phon TH, Pfeifer B, Stephanopoulos G (2010) Isoprenoid pathway optimization for Taxol precursor overproduction in *Escherichia coli*. Science 330:70–74
- Azami Y, Hattori A, Nishimura H, Kawaide H, Yoshimura T, Hemmi H (2014) (R)-mevalonate
 3-phosphate is an intermediate of the mevalonate pathway in *Thermoplasma acidophilum*.
 J Biol Chem 289:15957–15967
- Begley M, Bron PA, Heuston S, Casey PG, Englert N, Wiesner J, Jomaa H, Gahan CG, Hill C (2008) Analysis of the isoprenoid biosynthesis pathways in *Listeria monocytogenes* reveals a role for the alternative 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate pathway in murine infection. Infect Immun 76:5392–5401
- Beja O, Aravind L, Koonin EV, Suzuki MT, Hadd A, Nguyen LP, Jovanovich SB, Gates CM, Feldman RA, Spudich JL, Spudich EN, DeLong EF (2000) Bacterial rhodopsin: evidence for a new type of phototrophy in the sea. Science 289:1902–1906
- Berthelot K, Estevez Y, Deffieux A, Peruch F (2012) Isopentenyl diphosphate isomerase: a checkpoint to isoprenoid biosynthesis. Biochimie 94:1621–1634
- Bohlmann J, Meyer-Gauen G, Croteau R (1998) Plant terpenoid synthases: molecular biology and phylogenetic analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:4126–4133
- Boucher Y, Huber H, L'Haridon S, Stetter KO, Doolittle WF (2001) Bacterial origin for the isoprenoid biosynthesis enzyme HMG-CoA reductase of the archaeal orders Thermoplasmatales and Archaeoglobales. Mol Biol Evol 18:1378–1388
- Bouvier F, Rahier A, Camara B (2005) Biogenesis, molecular regulation and function of plant isoprenoids. Prog Lipid Res 44:357–429
- Bramkamp M, Lopez D (2015) Exploring the existence of lipid rafts in bacteria. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 79:81–100
- Brown AC, Parish T (2008) Dxr is essential in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and fosmidomycin resistance is due to a lack of uptake. BMC Microbiol 8:78
- Bryant DA, Frigaard NU (2006) Prokaryotic photosynthesis and phototrophy illuminated. Trends Microbiol 14:488–496
- Calegari-Santos R, Diogo RA, Fontana JD, Bonfim TM (2016) Carotenoid production by halophilic archaea under different culture conditions. Curr Microbiol 72:641–651
- Carretero-Paulet L, Lipska A, Perez-Gil J, Sangari FJ, Albert VA, Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2013) Evolutionary diversification and characterization of the eubacterial gene family encoding DXR type II, an alternative isoprenoid biosynthetic enzyme. BMC Evol Biol 13:180
- Chappe B, Michaelis W, Albrecht P, Ourisson G (1979) Fossil evidence for a novel series of archaebacterial lipids. Naturwissenschaften 66:522–523
- Chen F, Tholl D, Bohlmann J, Pichersky E (2011) The family of terpene synthases in plants: a mid-size family of genes for specialized metabolism that is highly diversified throughout the kingdom. Plant J 66:212–229
- Chew AG, Bryant DA (2007) Chlorophyll biosynthesis in bacteria: the origins of structural and functional diversity. Annu Rev Microbiol 61:113–129
- Choi JH, Ryu YW, Park YC, Seo JH (2009) Synergistic effects of chromosomal ispB deletion and dxs overexpression on coenzyme Q(10) production in recombinant *Escherichia coli* expressing *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* dps gene. J Biotechnol 144:64–69
- Dairi T (2005) Studies on biosynthetic genes and enzymes of isoprenoids produced by actinomycetes. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 58:227–243
- Dellas N, Thomas ST, Manning G, Noel JP (2013) Discovery of a metabolic alternative to the classical mevalonate pathway. Elife 2:e00672
- Dumelin CE, Chen Y, Leconte AM, Chen YG, Liu DR (2012) Discovery and biological characterization of geranylated RNA in bacteria. Nat Chem Biol 8:913–919

- Dupont S, Lemetais G, Ferreira T, Cayot P, Gervais P, Beney L (2012) Ergosterol biosynthesis: a fungal pathway for life on land? Evolution 66:2961–2968
- Ershov YV, Gantt RR, Cunningham FX Jr, Gantt E (2002) Isoprenoid biosynthesis in *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC6803 is stimulated by compounds of the pentose phosphate cycle but not by pyruvate or deoxyxylulose-5-phosphate. J Bacteriol 184:5045–5051
- Fernandes JF, Lell B, Agnandji ST, Obiang RM, Bassat Q, Kremsner PG, Mordmuller B, Grobusch MP (2015) Fosmidomycin as an antimalarial drug: a meta-analysis of clinical trials. Future Microbiol 10:1375–1390
- Frank HA (1999) Incorporation of carotenoids into reaction Center and light-harvesting pigmentprotein complexes. In: Frank HA, Young AJ, Britton G, Cogdell RJ (eds) The photochemistry of carotenoids. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 235–244
- Frank A, Groll M (2017) The methylerythritol phosphate pathway to isoprenoids. Chem Rev 117:5675–5703
- Friesen JA, Rodwell VW (2004) The 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme-A (HMG-CoA) reductases. Genome Biol 5:248
- Fuhrman JA, Schwalbach MS, Stingl U (2008) Proteorhodopsins: an array of physiological roles? Nat Rev Microbiol 6:488–494
- Furubayashi M, Saito K, Umeno D (2014) Evolutionary analysis of the functional plasticity of Staphylococcus aureus C30 carotenoid synthase. J Biosci Bioeng 117:431–436
- Gao Y, Honzatko RB, Peters RJ (2012) Terpenoid synthase structures: a so far incomplete view of complex catalysis. Nat Prod Rep 29:1153–1175
- Ge D, Xue Y, Ma Y (2016) Two unexpected promiscuous activities of the iron-sulfur protein IspH in production of isoprene and isoamylene. Microb Cell Factories 15:79
- Gerber NN, Lechevalier HA (1965) Geosmin, an earthly-smelling substance isolated from actinomycetes. Appl Microbiol 13:935–938
- Gershenzon J, Dudareva N (2007) The function of terpene natural products in the natural world. Nat Chem Biol 3:408–414
- Grochowski LL, Xu H, White RH (2006) Methanocaldococcus jannaschii uses a modified mevalonate pathway for biosynthesis of isopentenyl diphosphate. J Bacteriol 188:3192–3198
- Gruchattka E, Hadicke O, Klamt S, Schutz V, Kayser O (2013) In silico profiling of *Escherichia coli* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* as terpenoid factories. Microb Cell Factories 12:84
- Guenther A, Karl T, Harley P, Wiedinmyer C, Palmer PI, Geron C (2006) Estimates of global terrestrial isoprene emissions using MEGAN (Model of Emissions of Gases and Aerosols from Nature). Atmos Chem Phys 6:3181–3210
- Hamano Y, Dairi T, Yamamoto M, Kuzuyama T, Itoh N, Seto H (2002) Growth-phase dependent expression of the mevalonate pathway in a terpenoid antibiotic-producing *Streptomyces* strain. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 66:808–819
- Heuston S, Begley M, Davey MS, Eberl M, Casey PG, Hill C, Gahan CG (2012) HmgR, a key enzyme in the mevalonate pathway for isoprenoid biosynthesis, is essential for growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* EGDe. Microbiology 158:1684–1693
- Ivanov SS, Charron G, Hang HC, Roy CR (2010) Lipidation by the host prenyltransferase machinery facilitates membrane localization of *Legionella pneumophila* effector proteins. J Biol Chem 285:34686–34698
- Jain S, Caforio A, Driessen AJ (2014) Biosynthesis of archaeal membrane ether lipids. Front Microbiol 5:641
- Jiang J, He X, Cane DE (2007) Biosynthesis of the earthy odorant geosmin by a bifunctional *Streptomyces coelicolor* enzyme. Nat Chem Biol 3:711–715
- Kaneda K, Kuzuyama T, Takagi M, Hayakawa Y, Seto H (2001) An unusual isopentenyl diphosphate isomerase found in the mevalonate pathway gene cluster from *Streptomyces* sp. strain CL190. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:932–937
- Komatsu M, Tsuda M, Omura S, Oikawa H, Ikeda H (2008) Identification and functional analysis of genes controlling biosynthesis of 2-methylisoborneol. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:7422–7427

- Lange BM, Rujan T, Martin W, Croteau R (2000) Isoprenoid biosynthesis: the evolution of two ancient and distinct pathways across genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:13172–13177
- Langworthy TA, Pond JL (1986) Archaebacterial ether lipids and chemotaxonomy. Syst Appl Microbiol 7:253–257
- Lawrence JG, Ochman H (1998) Molecular archaeology of the *Escherichia coli* genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:9413–9417
- Liu GY, Essex A, Buchanan JT, Datta V, Hoffman HM, Bastian JF, Fierer J, Nizet V (2005) *Staphylococcus aureus* golden pigment impairs neutrophil killing and promotes virulence through its antioxidant activity. J Exp Med 202:209–215
- Lohr M, Schwender J, Polle JE (2012) Isoprenoid biosynthesis in eukaryotic phototrophs: a spotlight on algae. Plant Sci 185-186:9–22
- Lombard J, Moreira D (2011) Origins and early evolution of the mevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis in the three domains of life. Mol Biol Evol 28:87–99
- Lombard J, Lopez-Garcia P, Moreira D (2012) The early evolution of lipid membranes and the three domains of life. Nat Rev Microbiol 10:507–515
- Lynen F (1967) Biosynthetic pathways from acetate to natural products. Pure Appl Chem 14:137–167
- Meadows AL, Hawkins KM, Tsegaye Y, Antipov E, Kim Y, Raetz L, Dahl RH, Tai A, Mahatdejkul-Meadows T, Xu L, Zhao L, Dasika MS, Murarka A, Lenihan J, Eng D, Leng JS, Liu CL, Wenger JW, Jiang H, Chao L, Westfall P, Lai J, Ganesan S, Jackson P, Mans R, Platt D, Reeves CD, Saija PR, Wichmann G, Holmes VF, Benjamin K, Hill PW, Gardner TS, Tsong AE (2016) Rewriting yeast central carbon metabolism for industrial isoprenoid production. Nature 537:694–697
- Miziorko HM (2011) Enzymes of the mevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis. Arch Biochem Biophys 505:131–143
- Mogi T, Saiki K, Anraku Y (1994) Biosynthesis and functional role of haem O and haem A. Mol Microbiol 14:391–398
- Nitschke W, Kramer D, Riedel A, Liebl U (1995) From naphtho-to benzoquinones-(r) evolutionary reorganizations of electron transfer chains. Photosynthesis: From Light to Biosphere 1:945–950
- Nupur LN, Vats A, Dhanda SK, Raghava GP, Pinnaka AK, Kumar A (2016) ProCarDB: a database of bacterial carotenoids. BMC Microbiol 16:96
- O'Brian MR, Thony-Meyer L (2002) Biochemistry, regulation and genomics of haem biosynthesis in prokaryotes. Adv Microb Physiol 46:257–318
- Oesterhelt D, Stoeckenius W (1971) Rhodopsin-like protein from the purple membrane of *Halobacterium halobium*. Nat New Biol 233:149–152
- Oldfield E, Lin FY (2012) Terpene biosynthesis: modularity rules. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 51:1124–1137
- Omer CA, Gibbs JB (1994) Protein prenylation in eukaryotic microorganisms: genetics, biology and biochemistry. Mol Microbiol 11:219–225
- Paddon CJ, Keasling JD (2014) Semi-synthetic artemisinin: a model for the use of synthetic biology in pharmaceutical development. Nat Rev Microbiol 12:355–367
- Pan JJ, Solbiati JO, Ramamoorthy G, Hillerich BS, Seidel RD, Cronan JE, Almo SC, Poulter CD (2015) Biosynthesis of Squalene from Farnesyl Diphosphate in bacteria: three steps catalyzed by three enzymes. ACS Cent Sci 1:77–82
- Perez-Gil J, Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2013) Metabolic plasticity for isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria. Biochem J 452:19–25
- Perez-Gil J, Calisto BM, Behrendt C, Kurz T, Fita I, Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2012a) Crystal structure of *Brucella abortus* deoxyxylulose-5-phosphate reductoisomerase-like (DRL) enzyme involved in isoprenoid biosynthesis. J Biol Chem 287:15803–15809
- Perez-Gil J, Uros EM, Sauret-Gueto S, Lois LM, Kirby J, Nishimoto M, Baidoo EE, Keasling JD, Boronat A, Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2012b) Mutations in *Escherichia coli aceE* and *ribB* genes allow survival of strains defective in the first step of the isoprenoid biosynthesis pathway. PLoS One 7:e43775

- Persson BC, Esberg B, Olafsson O, Bjork GR (1994) Synthesis and function of isopentenyl adenosine derivatives in tRNA. Biochimie 76:1152–1160
- Phillips MA, Leon P, Boronat A, Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2008) The plastidial MEP pathway: unified nomenclature and resources. Trends Plant Sci 13:619–623
- Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2004) The MEP pathway: a new target for the development of herbicides, antibiotics and antimalarial drugs. Curr Pharm Des 10:2391–2400
- Rodriguez-Concepcion M, Boronat A (2002) Elucidation of the methylerythritol phosphate pathway for isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria and plastids. A metabolic milestone achieved through genomics. Plant Physiol 130:1079–1089
- Rohmer M, Knani M, Simonin P, Sutter B, Sahm H (1993) Isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria: a novel pathway for the early steps leading to isopentenyl diphosphate. Biochem J 295 (Pt 2):517–524
- Ruch S, Beyer P, Ernst H, Al-Babili S (2005) Retinal biosynthesis in Eubacteria: in vitro characterization of a novel carotenoid oxygenase from *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. Mol Microbiol 55:1015–1024
- Sacchettini JC, Poulter CD (1997) Creating isoprenoid diversity. Science 277:1788-1789
- Saenz JP, Grosser D, Bradley AS, Lagny TJ, Lavrynenko O, Broda M, Simons K (2015) Hopanoids as functional analogues of cholesterol in bacterial membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:11971–11976
- Sangari FJ, Perez-Gil J, Carretero-Paulet L, Garcia-Lobo JM, Rodriguez-Concepcion M (2010) A new family of enzymes catalyzing the first committed step of the methylerythritol 4-phosphate (MEP) pathway for isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:14081–14086
- Scheffers DJ, Pinho MG (2005) Bacterial cell wall synthesis: new insights from localization studies. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 69:585–607
- Scherzinger D, Ruch S, Kloer DP, Wilde A, Al-Babili S (2006) Retinal is formed from apo-carotenoids in *Nostoc* sp. PCC7120: in vitro characterization of an apo-carotenoid oxygenase. Biochem J 398:361–369
- Shrivastava S, Chattopadhyay A (2007) Influence of cholesterol and ergosterol on membrane dynamics using different fluorescent reporter probes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 356:705–710
- Sojo V, Pomiankowski A, Lane N (2014) A bioenergetic basis for membrane divergence in archaea and bacteria. PLoS Biol 12:e1001926
- Takaichi S (2011) Carotenoids in algae: distributions, biosyntheses and functions. Mar Drugs 9:1101-1118
- Touz ET, Mengin-Lecreulx D (2008) Undecaprenyl phosphate synthesis. EcoSal Plus 2013; https:// doi.org/10.1128/ecosalplus.4.7.1.7
- Umehara M, Hanada A, Yoshida S, Akiyama K, Arite T, Takeda-Kamiya N, Magome H, Kamiya Y, Shirasu K, Yoneyama K, Kyozuka J, Yamaguchi S (2008) Inhibition of shoot branching by new terpenoid plant hormones. Nature 455:195–200
- Vannice JC, Skaff DA, Keightley A, Addo JK, Wyckoff GJ, Miziorko HM (2014) Identification in *Haloferax volcanii* of phosphomevalonate decarboxylase and isopentenyl phosphate kinase as catalysts of the terminal enzyme reactions in an archaeal alternate mevalonate pathway. J Bacteriol 196:1055–1063
- Vickers CE, Gershenzon J, Lerdau MT, Loreto F (2009) A unified mechanism of action for volatile isoprenoids in plant abiotic stress. Nat Chem Biol 5:283–291
- Vickers CE, Klein-Marcuschamer D, Kromer JO (2012) Examining the feasibility of bulk commodity production in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Lett 34:585–596
- Vickers CE, Behrendorff JBYH, Bongers M, Brennan TCR, Bruschi M, Nielsen LK (2015) Production of industrially relevant Isoprenoid compounds in engineered microbes. In: Kamm B (ed) Microorganisms in biorefineries. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 303–334
- Vinokur JM, Cummins MC, Korman TP, Bowie JU (2016) An adaptation to life in acid through a novel mevalonate pathway. Sci Rep 6:39737

Volkman JK (2003) Sterols in microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 60:495-506

- Warlick BP, Evans BS, Erb TJ, Ramagopal UA, Sriram J, Imker HJ, Sauder JM, Bonanno JB, Burley SK, Tabita FR, Almo SC, Sweedler JS, Gerlt JA (2012) 1-methylthio-D-xylulose 5-phosphate methylsulfurylase: a novel route to 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate in *Rhodospirillum rubrum*. Biochemistry 51:8324–8326
- Weete JD, Abril M, Blackwell M (2010) Phylogenetic distribution of fungal sterols. PLoS One 5: e10899
- Wilkins K, Schöller C (2009) Volatile organic metabolites from selected *Streptomyces* strains. Actinomycetologica 23:27–33
- Yamada Y, Kuzuyama T, Komatsu M, Shin-Ya K, Omura S, Cane DE, Ikeda H (2015) Terpene synthases are widely distributed in bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:857–862
- Yang Y, Yatsunami R, Ando A, Miyoko N, Fukui T, Takaichi S, Nakamura S (2015) Complete biosynthetic pathway of the C50 carotenoid bacterioruberin from lycopene in the extremely halophilic archaeon *Haloarcula japonica*. J Bacteriol 197:1614–1623
- Zhang FL, Casey PJ (1996) Protein prenylation: molecular mechanisms and functional consequences. Annu Rev Biochem 65:241–269